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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA

WAYCROSS DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA )
)

v. ) Civil Case No.
)

THREE REAL PROPERTIES )
LISTED IN PARAGRAPH THREE )

VERIFIED COMPLAINT FOR FORFEITURE IN REM

COMES NOW the United States of America (the “United States” or the

“Government”), by and through Tara M. Lyons, Acting United States Attorney for the

Southern District of Georgia, and J. Bishop Ravenel, Assistant United States

Attorney, and brings this Verified Complaint for Civil Forfeiture In Rem, with the

following allegations:

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. In Rem civil forfeiture is permissible under Rule G of the Supplemental

Rules for Admiralty or Maritime Claims and Asset Forfeiture Actions (“Rule G”).

2. The Defendants In Rem are subject to forfeiture to the United States

pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 881(a)(7) on the grounds that the Defendant Properties,

as defined later herein, are real property, including any right, title, and interest

(including any leasehold interest) in the whole of any lot or tract of land and any

appurtenances or improvements, which was used, and intended to be used, in any

manner or part, to commit, and to facilitate the commission of, violations of Title 21

of the United States Code punishable by more than one year’s imprisonment,

including Manufacturing a Controlled Substance (Marijuana) in violation of 21
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U.S.C. § 841(a)(1), Possession with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance

(Marijuana) in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1), and Conspiracy to Manufacture and

to Possess with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance (Marijuana) in violation

of 21 U.S.C. § 846.

THE DEFENDANTS IN REM

3. The Defendants In Rem (hereinafter, collectively the “Defendant

Properties”) include the following assets:

a. Real property located in Pierce County, Georgia, hereinafter
“Defendant Property 1”:

All of the property located at tract of land, containing 50 acres, more or less,
lying in original Land Lot No. 237 in the 4th Land District of Pierce County,
Georgia, 31557 bounded as follows: Northwardly by U.S. Highway No. 84 (that
also being Georgia Highway No. 38); Eastwardly by lands of the Patterson
Milling Company; Southwardly by the right-of-way of the SCL Railroad
(formerly the ACL Railroad); and Westwardly in part by lands of Harris Gin
Company and in part by lands of Gloria Griner Amos. Said lands conveyed
hereby are designated as Lot #5, containing 30.49 acres, and a Lot #6
containing 19.67 acres, on a plat of lands of H. J. Griner, Sr., recorded in Plat
Book 6, Page 54, in the public records of Pierce County, Georgia.

There is excepted from the above described tract of land a 40' x 40' parcel of
land conveyed by Miss Eliza C. Wylly to Georgia Power & Light Company in
Deed dated October 8, 1935, recorded in Deed Book 3-I, Page 166, in the Public
Records of Pierce County, Georgia, and which 40' x 40' parcel lies in the
northwesterly corner of Lot #5 aforementioned as composing a part of the lands
conveyed hereby.

LESS AND EXCEPT: 0.103 aces conveyed in that right-of-way deed recorded
in Deed Book 224, Page 104.

LESS AND EXCEPT: 0.053 acres conveyed in that right-of-way deed recorded
in Deed Book 224, Page 108.

LESS AND EXCEPT: 0.459 acres conveyed in that deed recorded in Deed Book
199, Page 392.
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LESS AND EXCEPT: 0.024 acres conveyed in that deed recorded in Deed Book
224, Page 66.

b. Real property located in Brantley County, Georgia, hereinafter
“Defendant Property 2”:

All of the property located at 2804 Hwy 110E in Waynesville, Brantley County,
Georgia 31566 to include the physical land being Brantley County Parcel
Number B073 112, which is 27.07 acres:

All that tract of land lying and being in G.M.D. 1493, of Brantley County,
Georgia, containing 27.074 acres as shown on that certain survey prepared by
Everett Tomberlin and Associates, Everett Tomberlin, GRLS No. 2922, dated
August 22, 2013 and being more particularly described as follows:
COMMENCING at a concrete monument on the South right-of-way of
Highway 110 and the East right-of-way of Plantation Drive, thence North 23
degrees 46 minutes 46 seconds West for a distance of 135.24 feet to a 1/2 inch
rebar set witnessed by a 3 inch creosote post being the POINT OF
BEGINNING, thence along the North right-of-way of Highway 110 North 71
degrees 29 minutes 29 seconds West for a distance of 849.94 feet to a 1/2 inch
rebar set witnessed by a 3 inch creosote post, thence North 32 degrees 41
minutes 47 seconds West for a distance of 1188.10 feet to a 1/2 inch rebar set
witnessed by a 3 inch creosote post, thence South 72 degrees 32 minutes 19
seconds East for a distance of 250.34 feet to a 1/2 inch rebar set witnessed by
a 3 inch creosote post, thence South 80 degrees 17 minutes 50 seconds East for
a distance of 619.61 feet to a concrete monument found, thence South 81
degrees 27 minutes 17 seconds East for a distance of 938.48 feet to a 5/8 inch
rebar found, thence South 19 degrees 08 minutes 06 seconds West for a
distance of 1006.25 feet back to the POINT OF BEGINNING.

c. Real property located in Brantley County, Georgia, hereinafter
“Defendant Property 3”:

All of the property located at 10155 North Main Street, Nahunta, Georgia
31553:

All that tract or parcel of land situate, lying and being in Land Lot No. 88, 2nd
Land District, Brantley County, Georgia, and lying within the corporate limits
of the City of Nahunta, and more particularly described on a certain plat of
survey made by David S. Page, Georgia Registered Land Surveyor #793, which
plat is dated December 31, 1985, and recorded in Plat Book 4, page 140, in the
Office of the Clerk of Superior Court, Brantley County, Georgia, and according
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to said plat is more particularly identified as Lot “H” and Lot “I”. PARCEL
NA05 070.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4. The United States brings this action in rem in its own right to forfeit the

Defendant Properties.

5. This Court has jurisdiction over an action commenced by the United

States pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1345.

6. The Court has jurisdiction over an action for forfeiture pursuant to 28

U.S.C. § 1355(a).

7. The Court has in rem jurisdiction over the Defendant Properties

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1355(b).

8. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1355(b)(1)(A)

because acts and/or omissions giving rise to the forfeiture of the Defendant

Properties occurred in this district, and also pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1355(b)(1)(B)

and 1395(b) because the Defendant Properties are located and found in this

district.

9. Criminal acts occurred in the Southern District of Georgia in violation

of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1) (Manufacturing Marijuana), 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1) (Possession

with Intent to Distribute Marijuana), and 21 U.S.C. § 846 (Conspiracy to

Manufacture and to Possess with Intent to Distribute Marijuana), which violations

are punishable by more than one year’s imprisonment.

10. Pursuant to Rule G(3)(a) and 18 U.S.C. § 985(c)(2), a notice of this

forfeiture action and copy of the complaint shall be posted on the real properties and
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served on the owner(s) of the real properties. Thereafter, under 18 U.S.C. § 985(c)(3),

neither the issuance of a warrant in rem nor any other action will be necessary for

the Court to establish in rem jurisdiction over the Defendant Properties.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

11. On or about August 27, 2014, Ricky Chen (“CHEN”) and Haiwen Huang

(“HUANG”) acquired ownership ofDefendant Property 1 through a sale by its then

owner.

12. On or about March 27, 2015, CHEN and HUANG executed a quitclaim

deed transferring Defendant Property 1 to HG, LLC, a Georgia company.

13. HG, LLC was formed in or about October 2013 and administratively

dissolved in or about December 2016.

14. As of on or about May 15, 2014, CHEN was a member or manager of

HG, LLC.

15. On or about May 31, 2014, HG, LLC acquired ownership of Defendant

Property 2 through a quitclaim deed.

16. On or about April 7, 2020, HUANG acquired ownership of Defendant

Property 3 through a quitclaim deed.

FACTS AND BASIS OF FORFEITURE

Defendant Property 1

17. This investigation was initiated by Pierce County Sheriff’s Office

(“PCSO”) and Brantley County Sheriff’s Office (“BCSO”) into illegal marijuana

manufacturing operations that resulted in the seizure of approximately 11,153
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marijuana plants in Pierce County, Georgia (Defendant Property 1) and the

seizure of approximately 4,363 marijuana plants in Brantley County, Georgia

(Defendant Property 2). A third property (Defendant Property 3) was used to

store materials used in the marijuana manufacturing operations. Six Chinese

nationals were arrested as a result of the investigation.

18. In or about July 2023, the PCSO began receiving complaints about a

strong odor of marijuana coming fromDefendant Property 1. From the public area

near 6889 U.S. Highway 84, directly in front of Defendant Property 1, PCSO

officers could smell a strong odor of marijuana.

19. In or about July, August, and September 2023, PCSO officers began

conducting surveillance of Defendant Property 1. The property is divided by a

creek. On the east side, officers observed a locked gate behind which was a trailer,

Georgia Power meters, and a large barn. On the west side of the creek, officers

observed another locked gate behind which stood a large building with no visible

windows. During the surveillance period, officers also walked railroad tracks

adjacent to the Defendant Property 1 and could again smell the odor of marijuana

emanating from the property.

20. On or about January 18, 2024, law enforcement assisted Georgia Power

employees with maintenance on Defendant Property 1, as the employees had

reportedly stated that persons at Defendant Property 1 had made the Georgia

Power employees feel unsafe by following the Georgia Power employees around while

they were trying to conduct checks on the meters and other equipment. Prior to
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entering the property, Georgia Power employees disclosed to law enforcement that

they had come multiple times to the location because the meters kept overheating.

Overheating meters are indicative of heavy power usage. While on the property, law

enforcement encountered an Asian male, who stated that the property was used to

catch and process fish into fish cakes. The interviewing officer did not observe any

equipment indicative of fish processing, nor did the officer smell any fish.

21. After leaving the property, officers checked public records for business

license information associated with Defendant Property 1. They discovered no

business license associated with the property and specifically nothing involving the

sale of fish or fish cakes. PCSO consulted the Georgia Department of Agriculture

(“DOA”), which informed PCSO that any business involved in the sale of any fish or

fish products would have to be permitted by DOA and subject to inspection. No such

permits or inspections existed for a business on Defendant Property 1.

22. On or about February 13, 2024, PCSO obtained a state search warrant

to obtain data stored by Georgia Power regarding the power usage on Defendant

Property 1.

23. On or about February 19, 2024, after receiving the warrant return, law

enforcement discovered there were 11 power meters on the property and that there

was an average monthly power bill of approximately $12,100, which was consistent

with the amount of power used by a marijuana grow operation.

24. On or about February 23, 2024, PCSO executed a state search warrant

at Defendant Property 1 for marijuana and other evidence relating to an indoor
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marijuana grow operation. The PCSO located a sophisticated indoor marijuana grow

operation, which included grow lights, ventilation systems, and piped water supply

for the plants. Officers seized over 11,000 marijuana plants, grow lights, a tractor,

timers, and other implements used for the operation from the Defendant Property

1. The plants were located in the large building situated on Defendant Property

1. Officers also located and seized several firearms. Firearms are often used in illegal

drug manufacturing and distribution operations. Outside on the property,

investigators located numerous discarded marijuana plant root structures as well as

a water system piping water from ponds on the property to supply the indoor

marijuana plants. Further, berms around the property partially concealed the

interior of the property from observation.

Defendant Properties 2 and 3

25. Concurrent with the investigation led by PCSO, BCSO was

investigating a similar marijuana grow operation regarding Defendant Property

2. Pierce County and Brantley County are adjacent to one another. Law enforcement

officers in these counties routinely share information and did so in this investigation.

26. In or about February of 2024, PCSO detectives shared information

regarding their investigation of the marijuana manufacturing operation at

Defendant Property 1 with BCSO. In response, BCSO searched public records for

other properties owned by HG, LLC in the area and discovered that HG, LLC owned

Defendant Property 2. BCSO also identified the connection between HUANG and

Defendant Property 3.
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27. BCSO searched public records and interviewed city employees of the

nearest town, the city of Nahunta. BCSO discovered evidence showing that

Defendant Property 2 was being used as a residence, with water and trash

services. Defendant Property 2 did not show any record of business licenses,

similar to Defendant Property 1. BCSO conducted surveillance of Defendant

Property 2, and an officer smelled marijuana odors emanating from the property.

28. At Defendant Property 3, a BCSO officer observed a white van

registered in New York to HUANG. Another BCSO officer observed a semi-truck

unloading pallets in the parking lot atDefendant Property 3. The pallets appeared

to be loaded with 50 pound bags with unknown contents. The property had no known

current business dealings and was an abandoned restaurant which had not operated

for several years.

29. Based on its investigation, BCSO obtained a state search warrant for

Defendant Property 2 authorizing the search and seizure of marijuana,

paraphernalia, records, and other materials relating to drug trafficking.

30. On or about February 23, 2024, BCSO executed the search warrant at

Defendant Property 2 and discovered multiple rooms containing a sophisticated

indoor marijuana grow operation, which included grow lights and piped water supply

for the plants. Officers seized over 4,000 marijuana plants, grow lights, a tractor,

timers, ventilation systems, and other implements used for the operation. Officers

also located and seized several firearms, which are often used in illegal drug

manufacturing and distribution operations. The equipment used in the marijuana
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manufacturing operation at Defendant Property 2 was consistent with the

equipment observed at Defendant Property 1. Outside on the property,

investigators located numerous discarded marijuana plant root structures as well as

a water system piping water from ponds on the property to supply the indoor

marijuana plants. Further, berms around the property partially concealed the

interior of the property from observation.

31. During the execution of the search warrant at Defendant Property 2,

officers also found 50 pound bags of potting soil matching the bags seen on pallets at

Defendant Property 3. Officers additionally located shipping boxes addressed to

“Simon Huang” at the address ofDefendant Property 3. On or about February 23,

2024, BCSO secured and later executed a state search warrant for Defendant

Property 3, where officers located supplies for the marijuana grow operations,

diagrams of marijuana manufacturing operations consistent with the setups at

Defendant Property 1 and Defendant Property 2, documents connecting the

residence to Chinese persons in New York including Huang, and fabricated tables

similar to the tables used at Defendant Property 2 and Defendant Property 3.

32. On or about February 25, 2024, HUANG fled the United States to

Mexico and returned to China.

33. CHEN’s whereabouts are currently unknown.

34. In or about November 2024, an indictment was returned against

HUANG and seven other coconspirators by the Grand Jury for the Southern District
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of Georgia charging violations of 21 U.S.C. §§ 846 and 841 (a)(1) in Case No. 5:24-cr-

10.

Summary

35. As a result of the facts set forth herein, the Defendant Properties

were used, and intended to be used, in anymanner or part, to commit, and to facilitate

the commission of, violations of Title 21 of the United States Code punishable by more

than one year’s imprisonment, including Manufacturing a Controlled Substance

(Marijuana) in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1), Possession with Intent to Distribute

a Controlled Substance (Marijuana) in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1), and

Conspiracy to Manufacture and to Possess with Intent to Distribute a Controlled

Substance (Marijuana) in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 846.

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

First Claim for Relief
(Forfeiture Pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 881(a)(7))

36. The United States incorporates by reference the allegations contained

in paragraphs 1 through 35 above as if set forth fully herein.

37. The Defendant Properties were used, and were intended to be used,

in any manner or part, to commit, and to facilitate the commission of, a violation of

21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1) (Manufacturing Marijuana).

38. TheDefendant Properties are therefore subject to forfeiture pursuant

to 21 U.S.C. § 881(a)(7).
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Second Claim for Relief
(Forfeiture Pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 881(a)(7))

39. The United States incorporates by reference the allegations contained

in paragraphs 1 through 35 above as if set forth fully herein.

40. The Defendant Properties were used, and were intended to be used,

in any manner or part, to commit, and to facilitate the commission of, a violation of

21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1) (Possession with Intent to Distribute Marijuana).

41. TheDefendant Properties are therefore subject to forfeiture pursuant

to 21 U.S.C. § 881(a)(7).

Third Claim for Relief
(Forfeiture Pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 881(a)(7))

42. The United States incorporates by reference the allegations contained

in paragraphs 1 through 35 above as if set forth fully herein.

43. The Defendant Properties were used, and were intended to be used,

in any manner or part, to commit, and to facilitate the commission of, a violation of

21 U.S.C. § 846 (Conspiracy to Manufacture and Possess with Intent to Distribute

Marijuana).

44. TheDefendant Properties are therefore subject to forfeiture pursuant

to 21 U.S.C. § 881(a)(7).
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CONCLUSION

45. WHEREFORE, the United States of America prays that:

a. The Defendant Properties be forfeited and condemned to the

use and benefit of the United States;

b. The United States be awarded its costs and disbursements in this

action and for such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper; and

c. Due notice be given to all parties to appear and show cause why

the forfeiture of the Defendant Properties should not be decreed.

Respectfully submitted this 24th day of February 2025.

TARA M. LYONS
ACTING UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

By: /s/ J. Bishop Ravenel
J. Bishop Ravenel
Assistant United States Attorney
Virginia Bar Number 70250
P.O. Box 8970
Savannah, GA 31412
(912) 652-4422
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